
 
 

CITY OF NORCO 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

  

Wednesday, January 24, 2018 
Nellie Weaver Hall, 3737 Crestview Drive, Norco, CA 92860 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER:      7:02 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:     Present:     

Ted Hoffman, Mayor 
       Robin Grundmeyer, Mayor Pro Tem 
       Kevin Bash, Council Member 

Berwin Hanna, Council Member 
Greg Newton, Council Member 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:    Mayor Pro Tem Grundmeyer   
 
CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS ITEMS: 
 
1. DISCUSSION ITEM: 
 

A. Verbal Presentation of the Western Riverside Council of Governments’ 
(WRCOG) Community Choice Aggregation Program. (City Manager) 

 
Barbara Spoonhour, Director of the Community Choice Aggregation (CCA) Program stated 
that CCA allows cities and counties to aggregate their buying power to secure electrical 
energy supply contracts on a region-wide basis. In California, CCA (Assembly Bill 117) 
was chaptered in September 2002 and allows for local jurisdictions to form a CCA for this 
purpose. Several local jurisdictions throughout California are pursuing formation of CCAs 
as a way to lower energy costs and/or provide “greener” energy supply. Ms. Spoonhour 
added that jurisdictions are participating in CCA’s because the program creates local 
control over programs, rates, power supply, and power generation options. The CCA 
Program provides customers with choices and creates favorable economic development 
opportunities by offering energy at reduced rates.  
 
Ms. Spoonhour indicated that the CCA concept is not new. Currently, there are nine 
operational CCA’s. Ten CCA’s are planned to launch in 2018, including in the City of San 
Jacinto, Coachella Valley, City of Rancho Mirage, and unincorporated areas of Riverside 
County. Also, thirteen jurisdictions are exploring CCA’s. She reported on savings to 
consumers in other jurisdictions that utilize CCA’s. Using conservative numbers and 
assumptions, the Feasibility Study for this region indicates a CCA being favorable for a 
range of geographic scenarios.  
 
Ms. Spoonhour commented on residential and commercial participation.  She stated that 
customers can opt-out or join in the CCA program at any time.  Per State law, CCA is an 
“opt out” program – once the City joins, it is joining on behalf of its residents and 
businesses. The CCA Program is required to notify customers twice prior to program 
launch and twice after the program launch. This provides consumers an opportunity to opt 



City Council Minutes, Special Meeting   
Page 2  
January 24, 2018 
 
 

out if they wish. After that, customers can still opt out at any time. Customers will be able 
to compare CCA rates against Southern California Edison rates through an annual report 
provided to customers.  The annual rate comparisons will also be posted on a website. Ms. 
Spoonhour commented on additional benefits of the CCA Program, which include 
enhancing existing SCE programs as well as developing new energy programs and 
initiative pilots.  
 
Cities join by Council action to join the Joint Powers Authority. Once a few cities have 
joined the JPA, staff begins to engage outreach to the community. Ultimately, staff submits 
the plan to the California Public Utilities Commission.  
 
Council Member Newton asked what funding mechanisms are being used for this program.  
Ms. Spoonhour indicated that WRCOG is using its excess HERO Program revenues to 
fund the CCA Program. Council Member Newton commented on the operating reserves 
which WRCOG claims would be maintained at 7% and could be used for rate stabilization. 
Ms. Spoonhour indicated that there is the operating reserve and the program surplus fund. 
Funds could be drawn from the program surplus fund as well, which would be a Board 
decision.  
 
Council Member Newton said that this presentation is WRCOG’s viewpoint, but the City 
has not yet heard from Southern California Edison. City Manager Okoro indicated that 
SCE is participating in this discussion with WRCOG. Ms. Spoonhour said that there was a 
Code of Conduct adopted at the California Public Utilities Commission because of negative 
impacts from PG&E. As a result, SCE has been muted, which Ms. Spoonhour said is 
frustrating because WRCOG has a good working relationship with SCE. Ms. Spoonhour 
said that SCE has made public statements that they are not concerned about losing their 
generation piece with the CCA Program. SCE is more into the public delivery side of the 
CCA, which is where they make their money because they own those distribution assets.  
 
Mayor Hoffman said he understands that the City would be commodities and future buyers 
in this program. Ms. Spoonhour said WRCOG has hired an energy authority owned by 
municipal utilities to purchase energy on behalf of municipal utilities, who has the expertise 
to ensure customers are getting a good deal on the energy being purchased.  
 
Gary Schonne commented that he used to work for a large infrastructure power contractor 
in the power generation business. In the presentation it was noted that rates could 
increase. He said the infrastructure is with SCE and negotiates the energy rates. Mr. 
Schonne asked what makes the Council think that as a smaller organization, this program 
can negotiate better rates. Mr. Schonne also expressed that this program would add to the 
overhead which would be paid through rates. These costs are unknown and asked if the 
Council is willing to step into this program with these unknowns.  
 
M/S NEWTON/HANNA to receive and file the presentation given by the Western 
Riverside Council of Governments on the Community Choice Aggregation Program.  
The motion was carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, NEWTON, HOFFMAN 
NOES: BASH 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 



City Council Minutes, Special Meeting   
Page 3  
January 24, 2018 
 
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING: 
 

A. Public Hearing No. 4 Regarding Potential District Boundaries Relating to the 
Transition from At-Large to District-Based Council Member Elections. (City 
Attorney) 
 

City Attorney Harper stated that the purpose of the public hearing is to allow residents to 
provide comment on the composition of proposed districts and draft maps. In October 
2017, the City received a letter from the Law Firm of Shenkman & Hughes claiming a 
violation of the California Voting Rights Act and demanding that the City transition to a 
district-based election system. On November 15, 2017, the City Council adopted a 
Resolution of Intention to research the possibility of districting.  Per State law, the City has 
90 days to transition to district-based elections. Mr. Harper said that this has never been 
litigated because of the potential exposure. Mr. Harper commented that the City of Poway 
received the same letter and adopted districts. The former Mayor of Poway was very 
unhappy about the transition and filed suit against the City of Poway and the California 
State Attorney General alleging that the California Voting Rights Act is unconstitutional. 
There was a motion for preliminary injunction filed on behalf of the former Mayor. Other 
cities have become involved by providing input. Mr. Harper provides representations for 
two of the cities, and as a result, Norco is now involved in a working group composed of 
the City Attorneys of those cities looking at alternatives and legal arguments related to the 
Poway case.  
 
Dr. Justin Levitt of National Demographics Corporation commented briefly on the draft 
district maps released thus far.  
 
Council Member Hanna referenced three of the maps and expressed that it is not fair to 
the City Council that there are multiple Council Members in one district, and asked how it 
is justified to set up a map so that a Council Member is not able to run again. Dr. Levitt 
said that unfortunately, it is a tradeoff to consider when drawing district boundaries.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Grundmeyer referenced Dr. Levitt’s comments about having to keep a 
neighborhood in District 5 together and asked how many actual voters are in the protected 
class in that neighborhood.  Dr. Levitt indicated that District 5, in all of the maps, is about 
30% Latino by eligible voting population. All the other districts are below 25%. The 
percentages are imprecise because the measure is made by using surnames. In response 
to Mayor Pro Tem Grundmeyer, Dr. Levitt said that before Mr. Shenkman started to make 
his business forcing cities to change to districting in 2003, 29 cities used district-based 
elections; as of 2018, there will be approximately 105 cities that will use district-based 
elections.  
 
In response to Council Member Bash, Dr. Levitt commented that like his company, Mr. 
Shenkman uses the number of people who self-identify as Latino, which is Census data.  
 
Council Member Newton referenced the southern part of the City and requested further 
explanation. Dr. Levitt said that in the area below Second Street and east of the I-15, there 
is about 40% Latino by eligible voters, and is not part of just one district. Going northward, 
the area is about 20-30% Latino, the rest of the City is 10-20% Latino.  In response to 
Council Member Newton, Dr. Levitt commented about gerrymandering and said it’s 



City Council Minutes, Special Meeting   
Page 4  
January 24, 2018 
 
 

subjective. Gerrymandering is a term typically applied to a map that someone does not 
like.  
 
In response to Mayor Hoffman, Dr. Levitt said that the districting lines will be fairly minor 
after the 2020 Census information is released.  
 
Mayor Hoffman expressed keeping communities of interest together.  He said all maps 
show Landscape Maintenance District (LMD) 2 being separated between Districts 4 and 5. 
LMD 2, as well as Community Facilities Districts, Norco Ridge Ranch, and the Norco Hills 
Specific Plan, all have common interests.   
 
Council Member Newton expressed that there might be some advantages to having two 
Council Members for the Landscape Maintenance Districts.  
 
In response to Council Member Newton, City Attorney Harper said that if a map is not 
adopted by the end of the 90-day Safe Harbor period, the Council runs the risk of Mr. 
Shenkman asking for more in fees above the $30,000 cap under the Safe Harbor period.  
 
Mayor Hoffman opened the public hearing and requested the presence of those 
wishing to speak on this matter.  
 
Curt Knox said he is not in favor nor is he opposed to district elections. He commented that 
many cities have negotiated settlements, but if Norco loses, the City’s money will go to the 
lawyer.  Mr. Knox suggested that rather than fight this, that the Council change the Charter 
to further protect the City’s lifestyle.  
 
Gary Schonne expressed that the letter is extortion and districting serves no purpose for 
Norco. He said that districting risks breaking up the community. Mr. Schonne urged the 
Council to look at similar sized cities and fight with them as a group.  
 
Scott da Rosa expressed his opposition to district voting. He referenced the Press 
Enterprise article which claimed that all speakers at a previous Norco City Council meeting 
against districting were white.  Mr. da Rosa said that the claim is false as some speakers 
were Latino. He said that he and his family have been well-represented by the City 
Council. Mr. da Rosa said that districting would not serve Norco well as it has for some 
other cities. He asked how much money would be budgeted to fight the demand by Mr. 
Shenkman. He expressed his liking for the “Green” map, if the City goes to districting. 
 
Larry Eckhoff said that Norco should not be divided. He asked what would happen if there 
are not candidates in a district. City Attorney Harper said that the seated Council would 
appoint a resident from that district. Larry Eckhoff expressed that the process of appointing 
takes away voters rights.  
 
Mike Williams, who also spoke on behalf of his wife, Sigrid, expressed concern about the 
City being bullied by Mr. Shenkman. He said districting could disenfranchise and oppress 
the registered voters of Norco. He added that at no time has he seen polarized voting or 
discriminatory practices against minority populations. Mr. Williams said that the at-large 
election system allows for all voices to be heard. He said that the City of Norco does not 
have a community with protected class concentrated geographically in one area which is 



City Council Minutes, Special Meeting   
Page 5  
January 24, 2018 
 
 

disenfranchised because of the election process. The City is not diluting the voting 
strength of any protected minority group. Mr. Williams expressed that more research and 
analysis is needed before the City can make such a significant change.  
 
Corinne Holder said that the new maps released did not serve the purpose of the input 
given from previous meetings. She said that Hamner Avenue and Sixth Street corridors 
are not evenly distributed. The issue of keeping Landscape Maintenance Districts together 
also has not been addressed. Ms. Holder also said that the population deviation has 
increased in some districts rather than decreased.  
 
Linda Dixon said that this transition process has resulted in uniting the community. She 
said that some expressed concerns with the budget but those people should consider that 
districts could jeopardize the City’s lifestyle. Ms. Dixon said that the Hispanic population 
moved here for the same reasons as everyone else.  She urged the Council to fight the 
demand.  
 
Su Bacon referenced a radio program that concluded that districting resulted in less voter 
turnout and people not being heard. Ms. Bacon said she never realized there is a minority 
group in the City. The Hispanic community came here for horses, large lots, trails, and the 
lifestyle. She expressed that the Norco community needs to be united, not divided. 
 
JT Garoutte expressed that districting will take away voting rights because right now he 
gets to vote every two years and districting will only allow him to vote every four years. 
 
Pat Overstreet expressed her opposition to districting. She said that districts will ensure 
disaster, destruction and demise of Norco’s A-1-20 zoning, and the rural lifestyle. Ms. 
Overstreet said she is against acquiescing to the demand and urged the Council to fight.  
 
Wendie Stevens Rodriguez said she concurs with the comments made by Council at its 
January 17, 2018 meeting. She urged Senator Roth and Assembly Member Cervantes 
come to a Council meeting to speak on this issue.  
 
Mike Thompson asked the City Attorney if the City transitions to district-based elections, 
could it be done under protest and if lawsuits are favorable for cities, could Norco revert 
back to at-large elections. Mr. Harper said the City could revert back if the California Voting 
Rights Act is ruled unconstitutional.  
 
Geoff Kahan expressed opposition to districting. He said that there are state and 
congressional districts because the areas are so large.  The City of Corona is large and 
each of its districts are approximately 30,000 in population, which is the size of Norco in its 
entirety. Mr. Kahan asked how Mr. Shenkman can file a lawsuit with no standing. In 
response, Mr. Harper said that Mr. Shenkman is not the plaintiff; Mr. Shenkman would 
need to find a Norco resident to serve as the plaintiff.  
 
Linda Fong commented on transitioning to districts but then revert back to at-large at a 
later time.  
 
With no one else wishing to speak, Mayor Hoffman closed the public hearing. 
 



City Council Minutes, Special Meeting   
Page 6  
January 24, 2018 
 
 

City Clerk Link mentioned that the deadline for residents to submit suggestions for new 
maps is Monday, January 29, 2018.  
 
Council Member Newton thanked the public for attending and providing input.  He said that 
Mr. da Rosa’s concerns about budget is well-received. Council Member Newton said that 
the City needs to continue working on the maps to have the best one moving forward. 
 
Council Member Bash commented on the public input and level of understanding the 
public has on this issue. He said that in the past, two Council Members approached the 
League of California Cities about districting. The League told the Council Members that 
Norco is too small and probably would not be affected. Council Member Bash said he 
would take this issue to Western Riverside Council of Governments.  Council Member 
Bash expressed his disappointment with the State legislators. The California Voting Rights 
Act may be legal, but he said it is not ethical. Council Member Bash referenced Mr. Knox’s 
comments about districting taking away people’s rights by only being able to vote once 
every four years.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Grundmeyer said that as the City looks at moving forward, there needs to 
be many different options.  Putting pressure on legislators is an important part.  Mayor Pro 
Tem Grundmeyer commented on the passion of Norconians. The community is united. 
Mayor Pro Tem Grundmeyer requested to tour the City with the demographer.  
 
Council Member Hanna thanked the public for the input.  
 
Mayor Hoffman said that the California Voting Rights Act has been in place since 2002. 
Some of the legislators have been in office a short time.  The Speaker of the House is who 
determines which bills go through. The Speaker of the House and the Attorney General will 
not touch the California Voting Rights Act.  Mayor Hoffman said he appreciates all the 
comments received thus far and the ideas for new maps. He said it is important to consider 
what happens in ten years so that everyone is treated fairly  
 
Public Hearing No. 5 will be held on Wednesday, February 7, 2018, at City Council 
Chambers located at 2820 Clark Avenue in Norco.  
 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 
Mayor Hoffman adjourned the meeting at 9:26 p.m. 
 
 

_________________________ 
Cheryl L. Link, CMC, City Clerk 

 
Attachment:  Exhibit A – Public Comments submitted to the City Clerk’s Office regarding 

district-based elections. 



Exhibit A 

Public Comments Regarding District-Based Elections 
































